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Diego, City of et al O

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

KEN BOURKE,ET AL, Case No. 14-cv-01047-BAS(RBB)
Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO
DISMISS WITHOUT LEAVE TO
V. AMEND
CITY OF SAN DIEGO.ET AL, (ECF No. 21)

Defendants.

On April 25, 2014, Plaintiff KerBourke (“Plaintiff’), proceedingpro se
commenced this action against Defenda@ity of San Diego (“City”), and Cit
employees Michael Rhmond, Robert Cervantes, dafPeter Kann (collectively
“Defendants”). (ECF Nol.) On February 2, 2013his Court dismissed th
complaint with leave to amend. (EQ¥o. 19.) Plaintiff filed a First Amendg
Complaint (“FAC") on March 16, 2015. (FAC, ECF No. 20.) Defendants nq
move to dismiss the FAC pursuant to Rule 41(b) of the Federal Rules o
Procedure for failure to comply with Ruseof the Federal Rules of Civil Procedu

or, in the alternative, pursuant to Rul2(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Ci

1 Harland Lee Klutts is not a meed plaintiff on the First Amends
Complaint.
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Procedure. (ECF No. 21.) If the Coddes not dismiss theAC, Defendants ask
this Court to abstain pursuant to thieungef doctrine. [(d.)

The Court finds this motion suitablerfdetermination on the papers submitted
and without oral argumentSeeCiv. L.R. 7.1(d)(1). For the following reasons, the
CourtGRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) (ECKF No.
21) WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND .
l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff is the owner of a historic hwe located at 1455 KStreet, San Diego,
California 92101. (FAC at p. 14, Exs. BB1C). The originabuilding, erected in
1891, was designed for “multiplerfaly residential use.” Id. at p. 2, Exs. 1Al &
1A2.) On September 19, 2013, DefendaMichael Richmond, a City Code

Enforcement Coordinator, issued aviCiPenalty Notice ad Order (“Penalty

Notice”) informing Plaintiff his property wain violation of the San Diego Municipal
Code and ordering him to correct itld.(at Ex. 2.) The Penalty Notice stated |the
property was developed asiagle family home and Plaintiff was “intensifying the
use . . . from a single family residenttala multi-family residential use.”Id.) It

also stated multiple violations tiie California Building Code. Id.) The Penalt

~

Notice explained that failure to compby Plaintiff would result in the “ongoing
assessment of civil penalties” and poteritalurt action to recover costs” and stated
such penalties “may cause . . . a hearigguréing the existing violations” of which
Plaintiff would receive written nate regarding time and locationid {

On March 24, 2014, Defelant Robert Cervantes, a Combination Building
Inspector, and Defendant tee Kann, a Land Developmemvestigator, issued|a

Notice and Order to Vacate & RepairV@cate Notice”) to Plaintiff regarding

2 Under theYoungerdoctrine, federal courts should abstain from issuing
a decision if (1) state court proceedings pending when the federal action is filed,
(2) important state rights are implicated, &Bthere is adequate opportunity to raise
the federal claims in state couNounger v. Harris401 U.S. 37 (1971).
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violations on his property.ld. at Ex. 3, p. 1) The VataNotice stated the prope

was “substandard and a public nuisapeesepursuant to the . . . [California] Hea

-ty
th

and Safety Code.” Id.) The notice laid out various violations on the property—

including “exposed electrical wiring witlive parts” and improper use of outdc
storage areas—and ordered Plaintiff to vacate “all tenants or occupants . . .
27, 2014” and not rent or lease the properitil “made habitald and brought int
compliance with all state ardcal code regulations.”ld. at Ex. 3, pp. 1, 5.)

.  LEGAL STANDARD

A. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b)

Rule 41(b) provides, in relevant part: tHe plaintiff fails . . . to comply wit
these rules . . ., a defendant may mowidgmiss the action or any claim against
Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b). Aismissal under Rule 41(b) “oes as an adjudication
the merits” unless the dismissal order states othenmdseé'Dismissal with prejudic
of a complaint under Rule 41(b) is a harsimedy,” therefore “[tlhe district judg
should first consider less drastic alternativesich as allowing thelaintiff to file an
amended pleadingMcHenry v. Renneé34 F.3d 1172, 1178 (9th Cir. 1996).

B. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8

“A complaint that fails to comply witiRule 8 may be dismissed pursuarn
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b)Bravo v. Cnty. of San Dieg®o. C 12;
06460, 2014 WL 555195, at *2 (N.D. Cal.l&z€10, 2014). Rule 8 requires ej
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plaintiff to plead “a short and plain statent of the claim showing that the pleader

Is entitled to relief.” Fed. RCiv. P. 8(a)(2). “A clan is the aggregate of operat
facts which give rise to a riglenforceable in the courts.Bautista v. Los Angels
Cnty, 216 F.3d 837, 840 (9th Cir. 2000) (citatemd internal quotaons omitted).

Rule 8 requires each allegation to barijsle, concise, and direct.” Fed.

Civ. P. 8(d)(1). Where the allegatiomsa complaint are “argumentative, proli

replete with redundancy, anddgly irrelevant,” the complaint is properly dismis

for failure to comply with Rule 8(a)McHenry, 84 F.3d at 1177-7%ee also Nevij¢
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V. N. Coast Life Ins. Cp651 F.2d 671, 673-74 (9th Cir. 1981) (affirming dismi
of complaint that was “verbose, confugiand almost entirely conclusory”).

C. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule b{E) of the Federal Rules of Civ
Procedure tests the legal sufficiency of therskaasserted in the complaint. Fed.
Civ. P. 12(b)(6);Navarro v. Block250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001). The cg
must accept all allegations wiaterial fact pleaded in tlr®@mplaint as true and mu
construe them and draw all reasonaliterences from them in favor of th
nonmoving party. Cahill v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co 80 F.3d 336, 337-38 (9th C
1996). To avoid a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissacomplaint needot contain detailec
factual allegations; rather, it must pleashdegh facts to state a claim to relief tf
is plausible on its face.Bell Atl. Corp. v. TwombJy650 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).

claim has facial plausibilityvhen the plaintiff pleads fachl content that allows the

court to draw the reasonable inference thatdefendant is lie for the miscondug
alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citiigvombly 550 U.S. at
556).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide the ‘groundf his ‘entitle[ment] to
relief’ requires more than lalseand conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of
elements of a cause of action will not doTwombly 550 U.S. at 555 (quotin
Papasan v. Allain478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)). Aourt need not accept “leg;

conclusions” as truelgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Despite the deference the court
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pay to the plaintiff's allegations, it is nptoper for the court to assume that “the

[plaintiff] can prove facts that [he or shids not alleged or @ defendants hav

violated the . . . laws in waythat have not been alleged.Associated Gen,
Contractors of Cal. v. CalState Council of Carpenterd59 U.S. 519, 526 (1983),

Generally, courts may nobvosider material outside the complaint when rul

on a motion to dismissHal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner &.Cac., 896

F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 1998yanch v. Tunnell14 F.3d 449, 453 (9th Cif.
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1994) (overruled on other grounds Gwlbraith v. Cnty. of Santa Clay&07 F.3d
1119, 1121 (9th Cir. 2002)). ‘tivever, material which groperly submitted as pa
of the complaint may be consideredHal Roach Studios, Inc896 F.2d at 1541
n.19. The court may alsowgsider documents specifically identified in the compl:
whose authenticity is not gsioned by the partieszecht v. Price Cq 70 F.3d 1078
1080 n.1 (9th Cir. 1995) (supersedby statute on other groundsge also Branch
14 F.3d at 453-54. The coumay consider such documents so long as they

referenced in the complaint, even if theg aot physically attadd to the pleading.

Branch 14 F.3d at 453-54ee alsdarrino v. FHP, Inc, 146 F.3d 699, 706 (9t

Cir. 1998) (extending rule to docunmtsnupon which the plaintiff's complair

“necessarily relies” but which are not déxply incorporated in the complaint).

Moreover, the court may consider the figdkt of those documents even when
complaint quotes only selected portiof®cht 70 F.3d at 1080 n.1The court alsq
considers materials of whiattakes judicial notice.Barron v. Reich13 F.3d 1370
1377 (9th Cir. 1994).

As a general rule, a court freely grarave to amend a complaint it dismis!
Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(afschreiber Distrib. Co. vServ-Well Furniture C9 806 F.2(
1393, 1401 (9th Cir. 1986). The court nteny leave to amend, however, when
determines that the allegatioh other facts consistentitn the challenged pleadil
could not possibly cure the deficiencySchreiber Distrib. C0.806 F.2d at 140
(citing Bonanno v. Thoma809 F.2d 320, 322 (9th Cir. 1962)).
lll. DISCUSSION

A.  Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8

Defendantsnoveto dismiss pursuant to Rule 8(a@cause “the allegations

the FAC, “while significantly shorter thandtiff's original 30page Complaint, af

not plain, simple, concise or direct” aate “confusing and difficult to decipher.

(ECF No. 21-1 at pp. 2, 4 However, all that is requed under the liberal pleadir

standards of Rule 8 are allegations sugintienough to provide defendants with
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notice of the claimsgainst them.McKeever v. Block932 F.2d 795, 798 (9th Cir.
1991). Here, Plaintiff clearly states ebringing a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim for
deprivation of property without due mess. Furthermore, Defendants in their
motion properly identify theaictual allegations set forthy Plaintiff to support hi
claim. SeeECF No. 21-1 at pp. 4-7.) As pleadingspod seplaintiffs are to bg
construed liberally, the Court finds Riaff's FAC sufficient under Rule 8(a)Ses
McKeever932 F.2d at 798.

B. Section 1983 Due Process Claim

[92)

U

Plaintiff alleges a violation of 42 U.S. § 1983 for deprivation of propefty
without due process. Defendants summaatigue this claim is insufficient under
Rule 12(b)(6) because the due process ckasino merit and PIdiff fails to allege
a City policy or custom that harmed him,‘necessary element” for the City to|be
liable under section 1983. (ECF No. 21-1 at pp. 5-6.)

“Section 1983 creates a private right of action against individuals who, jacting
under color of state law, violate fedecahstitutional or statutory rightsDevereaux
v. Abbey 263 F.3d 1070, 1074 (9th Cir. 20Q&jting 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983). Sectipn
1983 “is not itself a source of substantrghts, but merely provides a method |for
vindicating federal rightelsewhere conferred.Graham v. Connqr490 U.S. 384,
393-94 (1989) (internal quotationarks and citations omitted). To establish section
1983 liability, a plaintiff must show (ihe conduct complained of was commifted
by a person acting under color of state lawd (2) this conduaeprived them af
rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of the United
States. Parratt v. Taylor 451 U.S. 527, 535 (1981), overruled on other grounds by
Daniels v. Williams474 U.S. 327 (1986 istor v. Garcia 791 F.3d 1104, 1114 (9th
Cir. 2015).

1. Under Color of State Law

“The traditional definition of acting under color of state law requires that the

defendant in a § 1983 actitvave exercised power possabby virtue of state layw
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and made possible only because the wrongdadotised with the authority of state
law.” West v. Atkins487 U.S. 42, 49 (1988) (intelnguotation marks and citatipn
omitted). It is generally held that atycemployee, acting within his duties |of
employment, is a state actor for section 1983 purpdses.Anderson v. Warndi51
F.3d 1063, 1068-70 (9th Cir. 200Qutzs v. Maryland Nat. Ins. C&Q5 F.2d 547,
553-54 (9th Cir. 1974fcrews v. U.S325 U.S. 91, 107-08 (1945).

The Court finds the individual defendantere acting under color of state law

when they served the violation notices on flfi They were acting solely in their
capacity as employees of the Code Ergarent Division. The individual defendants
could not have issued the notices absbhatpower granted to them through their
employment with the citySee McDade v. We&23 F.3d 1135, 1140 (9th Cir. 2000).
Therefore, Plaintiff has sufficiently aied Defendants were tawg under color df
state law when carrying outdltonduct alleged in the FAC.
2.  Due Process

“The due process clause of the Reenth Amendment protects individuals
against governmental deprivations of liiberty or property without due procesg of
law.” Halverson v. Skagit Cnty42 F.3d 1257, 1260 (9th Cir. 1994) (citing Const.
amend. XIV, § 1). A government action needt result in a “complete, physical,|or

permanent deprivation of real propg to invoke due proces£onnecticut v. Doeh,

501 U.S. 1, 12 (1991). Even temporary or partial impairment to property rights, such

as attachments or liens, meatue process protectiord.

“A procedural due process claim hastdistinct elements: (1) a deprivation

3 Although Plaintiff does not spdgi whether he seeks to bringl a
procedural or substantive due prsgelaim, in light of Plaintiff'oro sestatus, the
Court will analyze the sufficiency of ¢éhallegations of both legal theorieSee
Fontana v. Haskin262 F.3d 871, 876—77 (9th CilO@1) (Under the liberal pleading
standard applied in evaluating pro se conmiéa “[s]pecific legal theories need not
be pleaded so long as sufficient factuakrmvents show that ¢hclaimant may be
entitled to some relief.”).
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of a constitutionally protected liberty or prapeinterest, and (2) a denial of adequ
procedural protections.Brewster v. Bd. of Educ. tfe Lynwood Unified Sch. Dig
149 F.3d 971, 982 (9th Cir. 1998). The puaiions provided through procedural
process include “notice, reasonably caledaunder all the circustances, to appri
interested parties of the pendency of th@éacand . . . an opportunity to present tl
objections.” Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust C839 U.S. 306, 314 (195(

The due process clause also includes a substantive component, “which
against arbitrary and capricious governmaction, even when the decision to t
that action is made through procedutbst are in themselves constitutiong
adequate.”Sinaloa Lake Owners Ass’n @ity of Simi Valley882 F.2d 1398, 14(
(9th Cir. 1989), overruled on other groundsdsynendariz v. Penmaiib F.3d 1311
1324-26 (9th Cir. 1996). To establish a sahtve due process violation, Plain
must prove that Defendantsdnduct was “clearly arbary and unreasonable, hav
no substantial relation to tipaiblic health, safety, mdsaor general welfare.’ld. at
1407 (quotingeuclid v. Ambler Realty Cp272 U.S. 365, 395 (1926)).

a Procedural Due Process

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants dej@d him of his property without dt
process of law by ordering him to undergonddition of his property in violation ¢
“historical property preservation resolution R-10092034” and other unspsg
“state law[s] and cormisutional law[s] that potect historic property (FAC at p. 6.)
However, the notices—which &htiff attaches to his FB—state otherwise. Whi
the Vacate Notice does discudsmolition, it never orderRlaintiff to take suc
action. It only lays out the nexsary steps Plaintiff must takeHould he choose
demolish the building instead of obtaining the necessary permits to repai
property to a “safe and habitable” conditiohd. @t Ex. 3, p. 7 (emphasis added)

The Penalty Notice does not discussidétion, although it does warn of sof
potential action by the City that would imp&Ilaintiff's property rights and woul

therefore, be subject to procedural duecpss requirements. The notice states

-8 - 14cv1047
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failure to pay the civil pertiies assessed “shall constitugeasonal obligation and/

lien upon the real property” for the unpaid amouid. &t Ex. 2, p. 7.) However, the

Penalty Notice provides the proper procedpratections. The notice gives Plain
adequate notice of the possible encumbgamt his property in the form of a li

resulting from failure to comply ih the orders of the notice.

DI

ff

eNn

'

Furthermore, the Penalty Notice statbat if civil penalties are assessed,

Plaintiff will receive notice of a “Civil Pealties Hearing” where he “may pres

testimony or evidence concerning the exis¢eoicviolations and the means and t

frames for correcting the violations.” (EAat Ex. 2, p. §. Such a hearing

sufficiently complies with due proces$ee Boddie v. Connecticdi)l U.S. 371,

378 (1971) (holding that congttional due process simply requires an “opportu

ent

me

nity,

granted at a meaningful time and in a megful manner,” for a hearing “appropriate

to the nature of the case,” the faity of which can vary depending on the

importance of the interest involved. (intat quotation marks and citations omitted));

see also Brewstef,49 F.3d at 985 (explaining since a pre-deprivation hearing

serves as an initial check against mistaftecisions it “need not be elaborate[;]

only

[a] plaintiff need only be accorded oralwritten notice . . . an explanation of the . .

. evidence, and an opportunity present his side of the story.” (internal quotation

marks and citation omitted)).

Given the foregoing, the Court finds Piaif has failed to plausibly allege

claim of procedural due pcess since he was neither deed of his property through

an order of demolition, nor denied proper guecess procedures before any pote
impairment of his property rights.

b. Substantive Due Process

ntial

Plaintiff further alleges he was deptV of his property without due process

when Defendants issued the notices of wiorawithout first going before the histor

review board. (FAC at p. 7hle contends that since lpsoperty is historic, the Cit

must obtain permission from the historigieav board before subjecting the prope

-9 - 14cv1047
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to any zoning or codeequirements.ld.) The Court does not find that this allegat
meets the “exceedingly higburden” needed to bring a successful substantive
process claimShanks v. Dresseb40 F.3d 1082, 1088 (9th Cir. 2008) (noting @
“egregious official conduct” amounting &m “abuse of power lacking any reasong
justification in the service of a legitimegovernmental objective” will be conside
“arbitrary in the onstitutional sense.”)Jnited States v. Salernd81 U.S. 739, 74
(1987) (stating substantive dpeocess is meant to pevt conduct that “shocks t
conscience.”)see alsdNorth Pacifica LLC v. City of Pacific&26 F.3d 478, 484-8
(9th Cir. 2008) (maintaining a substamtigiue process claim challenging a land
action requires a showing that the action “lacked a rational relationshiy
government interest”).

Here, Defendants’ alleged actions wamnefurtherance of public health a
safety, and rationally lated to a legitimate government intere§ee Euclid272
U.S. at 3955see alscArmendariz 75 F.3d at 1328, overruled on other grouby
Crown Point Dev., Inc. v. City of Sun Vall&p6 F.3d 851, 856-57 (9th Cir. 20(
(“The City has an obvious interest inepenting safety and sanitation hazards
enforcing the housing code.”Enforcing violations ofhe City’s municipal codeon
a home that might be exempt fromrteen zoning requirements through
designation as historic doeast make Defendants’ aotis any less legitimateSegq
Cal. Health & Safety Code § 18957 (“Nothinglms [State Historical Building Cod
shall be construed to prevent authorized building or fire officials from
performance of their duties when in theqess of protecting the public health, saf

and welfare.”).

Even if, as Plaintiff alleges, the City required to confer with the histor

4 While Plaintiff contends Defendts made up the code enforcen
orders, both the Penalty Notice and the Vadddtice reference violations of acty
currently enacted, and enforbéa state and local code regulations. (FAC at Ex
& 3.)

—-10 - 14cv1047
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review board when dealing thi historic property, Platiff's claim that Defendant

S

acted without permission from the histomeview board, in an otherwise valid

exercise of their power as city employedses not rise to the level of seriousr

€SS

that a violation of substéime due process requireSee Shank$40 F.3d at 108
(“Official decisions that rest on an erraus legal interpretation are not necess:
constitutionally arbitrary.”). In additiof®laintiff's allegation that Defendants “act
with malice and discriminain” in sending the Penaltyotice and the Vacate Noti
Is insufficient to raise #halleged conduct to the leval egregious official condug
amounting to an abuse of power lackimy aeasonable justification and having
substantial relation to the public tia safety, or general welfar&see Shank$40
F.3d at 1088-89Sinaloa Lake Owners Ass'@882 F.2d at 1407.

Accordingly, the Court finds Plaiff has failed to plausibly allege
substantive due process violation under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

3. Municipal Liability

A municipality is a “person” withithe meaning of section 1983 and cat
held liable for its actions accordinglyMonell v. N.Y.C. Dgt. of Soc. Servs436
U.S. 658, 689-90 (1978). Howevarmunicipality cannot bleeld vicariously liablf

for unconstitutional acts of itsmployees under the theory refspondeat superigr

Bd. of Cnty. Com’rs of Bman Cnty, OKl. v. Browrb20 U.S. 397, 403 (1997).
impose liability on a municipality under gemn 1983, a plaintiff must “identify
municipal policy or custom #t caused [his] injury.”ld. (internal quotation mark
omitted). “A plaintiff cannot demonstrate the existence of a municipal poli
custom based solely on a single occoecee of unconstitutional action by a ng
policymaking employee."McDade 223 F.3d at 1141.

Here, Plaintiff has not alleged any austor policy by the City that depriv
him of his property. He simply alleges illegal conduct by cibgle enforceme
officers in “making up their own code enferoent orders.” (FAC a. 6.) Howevel

as previously noted, both the Penaltytis® and the Vacate Notice refere
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violations of actual, currently enactednd enforceable state and local ¢
regulations. $eeFAC at Exhs. 2 & 3.) To the extePlaintiff isalleging Defendant
acted without City authority, such actidoes not constitute aunicipal custom g
policy for which the Citycan be held liable. See Brown520 U.S. at 403City of
Okla. City. v. Tuttled71 U.S. 808, 831 (198%Brennan, J., coneung) (“To infer

the existence of a city policy from theoiated misconduct of a single, low-le

officer, and then to hold the city liable tme basis of that policy, would amount

permitting precisely the theory of strickspondeat superiohiability rejected ir
Monell”).

ode
S

r

vel

to

Accordingly, the Court finds Plaintiff has failed to sufficiently allege thal the

City is liable under section 1983.

C. Supplemental Jurisdiction

Plaintiff also alleges seva state claims including nitiple violations of stat
and municipal laws, harasent, and fraudulent statements about his hig
property. (FAC at pp. 6-7.) The supplertanurisdiction statute allows the Co
to decline to exercise supplemental juriidic over a claim if “the district court h
dismissed all the claims over which itshariginal jurisdiction.” 28 U.S.C.
1367(c)(3). Because Plaintiff fidailed to state a federahain, the Court declines

exercise supplemental jurisdimti over his state law claimsSee United Ming

Workers v. Gibhs383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966) (“Certamlif the federal claims a
dismissed before trial, evéimough not insubstantial in arjsdictional sense, the st3
claims should be dismissed as well”). aiBtiff's state law claims are therefq
dismissed without prejudice and |&ft resolution by the state courSee idat 7264
27.
IV. CONCLUSION & ORDER
Although the Court finds Plaintiff's FAC sufficient under Rule 8, it must f3
under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a fedelaim for which reliécan be grantec

As Plaintiff has already had one opporturidyamend his complaint, and the noti
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attached to the FAC preclude his duegass claims, Defendants’ motion to disn
(ECF No. 21) ilSRANTED WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND .
IT IS SO ORDERED.

: 4 : i
DATED: October 7,2015 ( 1l 11},)/4 f,ﬁ( |

Hoy. Cynthia Bashant
United States District Judge
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